#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-IA-01207-SCT		

#### COVINGTON COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

LUTRICIA MAGEE, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF LONNIE C. MAGEE, JR., DECEASED, AND ALL OTHERS WHO ARE ENTITLED TO RECOVER UNDER THE WRONGFUL DEATH STATUTE

**APPELLEE** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COVINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

### ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Robert P. Thompson William B. Stewart, Sr., Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A. Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, MS 39158 (601) 856-7200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CASE NO. 2008-IA-01207-SCT

#### A. Nature of the Case

This case involves claims by the Plaintiff that the negligence of the District and certain other defendants proximately caused the death of Plaintiff's son, Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., on August 8, 2007. Plaintiff seeks damages pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-13 (Rev. 2004), Mississippi's Wrongful Death Statute.

### B. The Course of the Proceedings

Plaintiff filed her First Amended Complaint on February 25, 2008. (R. 5-12).<sup>2</sup> Plaintiff admits in her First Amended Complaint and other pleadings that the District is a "governmental entity" and a "political subdivision" of the state under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, as set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-1(g), (i) (Rev. 2002 & Supp 2008). (R. 6, 46).

Plaintiff contends that on August 8, 2007, her son, Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., age seventeen, was a duly admitted student and member of the football team at Mount Olive High School which was located within the District. (R. 7). Plaintiff further contends that on this date, her son, Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., practiced football at Mount Olive High School on the school's practice field. (R. 7).

Plaintiff further contends that on August 8, 2007, the District had the following duties, namely, (1) to keep the football practice field in a reasonably safe condition and to ensure that all activities that are conducted on it are reasonably safe so as not to endanger the safety of the players participating in football practice; (2) to ensure that school officials and/or employees are capable of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>References to the Record are designated as "R.\_\_." References to the transcript of the hearing on the District's Motion for Summary Judgment are designated as "Tr.\_\_." References to the Record Excerpts are designated as "R.E. \_\_."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The original Complaint is not part of the record. The allegations were duplicated in the First Amended Complaint. The First Amended Complaint simply added John Doe defendants.

conducting their duties and to insure that they do properly and sufficiently conduct their duties; (3) a statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students; (4) a statutory duty to use ordinary care in administering public schools and to take ordinary and reasonable steps to minimize risks for its students; and, (5) the Superintendent, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §37-9-14, has a duty to administer schools within his or her district. (R. 7-9).

Plaintiff further contends that the District breached the aforementioned duties (1) by allowing football practice to be conducted in dangerously hot temperatures; (2) by failing to provide properly trained oversight personnel and/or professionals who were able to properly identify and/or make the determination when student athletes reached the limits of their endurance at football practice during the extremely hot days of August; (3) by allowing football practices in dangerously hot temperatures without performing sufficient observations and/or evaluations for heatstrokes, heat exhaustion, and/or any other heat-related conditions, lacking the capabilities to even perform these duties; and, (4) by failing to take any necessary precautions and safeguards to guard against the aforementioned conditions. (R. 8-9). Plaintiff contends that as a result of the aforementioned negligence, her son, Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., suffered a heatstroke at football practice on August 8, 2007, and died as a result. (R. 9). Plaintiff also claimed that the District was liable for her son's death under the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitor*. (R. 9).

The District filed its Answer on March 20, 2008, denying Plaintiff's claims of negligence and causation and asserting as an affirmative defense the protections afforded to it as a governmental entity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. (R. 31-40). Specifically, that as a "governmental entity" and a "political subdivision" of the state, the District may avail itself of the exemptions from liability set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9 (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008) and the limitations on liability set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-15 (Rev. 2002). (R. 36).

The District thereafter filed its motion for summary judgment stating that Plaintiff's claims are based upon the District's exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function or duty, whether or not that discretion be abused, thereby entitling the District to immunity from Plaintiff's claims pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(d) (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008) and further, that the Plaintiff cannot establish liability via res ipsa loquitur. (R. 13-43). After an untimely response by the Plaintiff, the District filed its rebuttal. (R. 129-146). The District's motion was set for hearing on June 20, 2008. (R. 44-45).

### C. <u>Disposition in the Court Below</u>

At a hearing on the District's motion for summary judgment on June 20, 2008, the trial court heard argument from counsel for both the District and the Plaintiff as to whether the District was entitled to immunity pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d) (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008). (Tr. 8-14). The trial court orally denied the District's motion for summary judgment on immunity grounds but granted the District's motion for summary judgment as to the Plaintiff's *res ipsa loquitur* claim. (Tr. 24). The trial court entered its written order on June 25, 2008. (R. 147).

The Plaintiff thereafter filed her Second Amended Complaint on July 3, 2008. (R. 149-164). While the substantive allegations against the District remained the same, the Plaintiff also named as defendants certain medical providers alleging that the Provisional Report of Autopsy and Death Certificate of Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., "revealed that heatstroke was the cause of death and that hypertensive heart disease and morbid obesity were contributory causes of death." (R. 153). Further, that these medical providers performed a "Sports Participation Physical Examination" on August 7, 2007, and cleared Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., to play football (R. 153-154). Plaintiff alleges that because of Lonnie C. Magee, Jr's hypertensive heart disease and weight, said providers should have given Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., an echocardiogram prior to clearing him to play football and had they done

so, the test would have revealed the left ventricular hypertrophy that was a contributing factor in Lonnie C. Magee, Jr.'s death. (R. 154).

The District thereafter filed a timely petition for permission to appeal the trial court's interlocutory order denying the District's motion for summary judgment on immunity grounds and to stay the proceedings as to the District. By Order dated August 27, 2008, this Court granted the District's petition and stayed the proceedings as to the District only. (R. 165-166).<sup>3</sup> The Plaintiff's allegations against the medical defendants are not part of this appeal.

#### D. Statement of the Facts Relevant to Issue on Appeal

The facts relevant to the issue presented for review are brief and straightforward. For purposes of this lawsuit, the District is a "governmental entity" and a "political subdivision" of the State under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, as set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-1(g), (i) (Rev. 2002 & Supp 2008). (R. 6, 14, 46). As a "governmental entity" and a "political subdivision" of the State, the District may avail itself of the exemptions from liability set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9 (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008) and the limitations on liability set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-15 (Rev. 2002). (R. 36).

On August 8, 2007, Plaintiff's son, Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., age seventeen, was a member of the football team at Mount Olive High School located within the District and he practiced with the team on this date. (R. 7, 13-14). While participating in football practice, and while in the course of an agility drill, Lonnie C. Magee, Jr. collapsed. (R. 13-14). Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., required CPR, however, all lifesaving efforts ultimately failed and he was pronounced dead at the Covington

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The trial court's granting of the District's motion for summary judgment as to the Plaintiff's claim of *res ipsa loquitur* is not part of this appeal and is not the subject of a cross-appeal by the Plaintiff.

County Hospital in Collins, Mississippi. (R. 14). This Court is being called upon to determine whether Plaintiff's claims as to the timing of football practice at Mount Olive High School, the training/qualifications of the personnel who oversaw the practice, and the alleged acts or omissions in the oversight of the practice, constitute discretionary acts thereby rendering the District immune from liability pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d) (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008). (R. 8-9).

The issue of fault is not currently before the Court, thus the temperature on August 8, 2007, and/or whether Lonnie C. Magee, Jr., actually died from a heat stroke, are not relevant for purposes of this appeal.

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying the District's motion for summary judgment filed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d) (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008), which states that where the District exercises or performs or fails to exercise or perform a discretionary function or duty, whether or not that discretion be abused, the District is entitled to immunity.

The alleged acts or omissions by the District were not ministerial in nature. The District's admission to Plaintiff's Request for Admission No. 12, which asked the District to "Admit that the Defendant, Covington County School District, has a statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students," does not conclusively establish a statutory duty thereby rendering the alleged acts or omissions by the District ministerial in nature. Such is not an admission of a statement or opinion of fact or of the application of law to fact, as contemplated by Rule 36(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Moreover, in response to Plaintiff's Request for Admission No. 17, which is virtually identical to Request No. 12, the District specifically admits that the alleged acts or omissions in this particular case implicate discretionary conduct.

Additionally, the Plaintiff's allegations do not implicate any statutory duty in which the District is to abide. There is absolutely no statutory authority "positively imposing by law and in a manner or upon conditions which are specifically designated" the exact conduct expected of the District in overseeing the practice of football at its schools. *Mosby v. Moore*, 716 So.2d 551, 557-58 (Miss. 1998) (quoting *Barrett v. Miller*, 599 So.2d 559, 567 (Miss. 1992) (quoting *McFadden v. State*, 542 So.2d 871, 877 (Miss. 1989)) (emphasis added).

Moreover, the statutory authority relied upon by the Plaintiff, specifically, Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-69 (Rev. 2007), from which a duty to use ordinary care to provide a safe school environment has been inferred, does not give rise to a statutory duty in this case. As discussed fully in this brief, Mississippi's

Courts have applied Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-69 and the derivative duty to provide a safe environment to students in a limited context, namely, to school districts in cases where the disorderly conduct of other students caused the alleged injuries. See, e.g., Henderson v. Simpson County Pub. Sch. Dist., 847 So. 2d 856, 857-58 (Miss. 2003); Lang v. Bay St. Louis/Waveland Sch. Dist., 764 So. 2d 1234, 1240-41 (Miss. 1999); L. W. v. McComb Separate Sch. Dist., 754 So. 2d 1136, 1142-43 (Miss. 1999); Beacham v. City of Starkville Sch. Sys., 984 So.2d 1073, 1076 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). However, as for Plaintiff's allegations pertaining to the timing of practice at Mount Olive High School, the training/qualifications of the personnel who oversaw the practice, and the alleged acts or omissions in the oversight of practice, such responsibilities have been held to be discretionary conduct by either the coaches or a school district. See Harris v. McRay, 867 So. 2d 188, 193 (Miss. 2004); Prince v. Louisville Mun. Sch. Dist., 741 So. 2d 207, 211-12 (Miss. 1999); T. M. v. Noblitt, 650 So. 2d 1340, 1344 (Miss. 1995).

Plaintiff's reliance upon Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-14 (Rev. 2007 & Supp. 2008), which designates specific administrative responsibilities to the superintendent, is likewise misplaced. Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-14 does not discuss or infer any duties pertaining to the oversight of football practice. As discussed fully in this brief, only three cases have interpreted this statute and have done so in the context of the assignment and reassignment of school personnel. *See, e.g., Gelenter v. Greenville Mun. Separate School District,* 644 So.2d 263, 268 (Miss. 1994); *Winters v. Calhoun County School Dist.*, 990 So.2d 238, 241 (Miss. App. 2008); *Board of Educ. for Holmes County Schools v. Fisher,* 874 So.2d 1019, 1022-23 (Miss. App. 2004).

Additionally, the Mississippi High School Athletic Association ("MHSAA") has not published or provided any literature to its member institutions that would give rise to a duty in this case. (See affidavit of Dr. Ennis Proctor, R. 42-43). As to the facts and allegations in this case, the affidavit of Dr. Proctor remains unrefuted.

As for Plaintiff's allegation that the District was negligent in "failing to provide properly trained oversight personnel and/or professionals who were able to properly identify and/or make the determination when student athletes reached the limits of their endurance at football practice during the extremely hot days of August," such clearly implicates discretionary act immunity. The duty to hire and supervise employees is necessarily and logically dependent upon judgment and discretion. *T.M. v. Noblitt*, 650 So.2d 1340, 1344 (Miss. 1995) (quoting the trial court's finding with approval which stated that "the duty to hire and supervise employees is necessarily and logically dependent upon judgment and discretion.").

Lastly, the alleged acts or omissions of the District clearly implicate policy decisions. See Harris v. McCray, 867 So. 2d 188, 193 (Miss. 2004) and Prince v. Louisville Mun. Sch. Dist. 741 So. 2d 207, 211-12 (Miss. 1999). Outside of Harris and Prince, the alleged acts or omissions of the District are clearly "susceptible to a policy analysis." See Pritchard v. Houten, 960 So. 2d 568, 582 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Dotts v. Pat Harrison Waterway Dist., 933 So. 2d 322, 328 (Miss. 2006).

Because the alleged acts or omissions by the District were not ministerial, but discretionary in nature, the District is entitled to immunity pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d) (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008). Therefore, this Court should reverse the trial court's denial of the District's motion for summary judgment and render a judgment of dismissal, with prejudice, as to the District.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

The Trial Court Erred in Denying the District's Motion for Summary Judgment Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(d) (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008)

#### A. The Standard of Review

The Court applies a de novo standard of review of a trial court's grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment. *Satchfield v. R. R. Morrison & Son, Inc.*, 872 So.2d 661, 663 (Miss. 2004) (further citations omitted).

### B. The Mississippi Tort Claims Act

The Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("Act") provides the exclusive remedy against a governmental entity and its employees for acts or omissions which give rise to a suit. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-7(1) (Rev. 2002). According to the Act, a school district constitutes a "governmental entity" and a "political subdivision" of the state. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-1(g), (i) (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008).

It is the intent of the Act that the state and its political subdivisions shall be immune from suit at law or equity. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-3(1) (Rev. 2002). The Act, however, waives immunity for actions for money damages based upon the torts of governmental entities and employees to the extent set forth in the Act. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-5(1) (Rev. 2002). For claims or causes of action arising from acts or omissions occurring on or after July 1, 2001, liability for all claims arising out of a single occurrence shall not exceed Five-Hundred Thousand and no/100 Dollars (\$500,000.00). Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-15(1)(c) (Rev. 2002). Moreover, no judgment against a governmental entity or its employee for any act or omission for which immunity is waived under this chapter shall include an award for exemplary or punitive damages or for interest prior to judgment, or an award for attorney's fees unless attorney's fees are specifically authorized by law. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-15(2) (Rev. 2002).

The waiver of immunity under the Act is subject to the exemptions enumerated in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9 (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008). Consequently, if the Court finds that the Plaintiff's claims fall within one of the exemptions set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9 (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008), then the District remains immune from any liability regardless of the statutory waiver.

The exemptions from liability under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, codified at Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9 (Rev. 2002 & Supp. 2008), when applicable, constitute "an entitlement not to stand trial rather than a mere defense to liability and therefore, should be resolved at the earliest possible stage of litigation." *Chapman v. City of Quitman*, 954 So.2d 468, 473 (Miss. App. 2007) (quoting *Mitchell v. City of Greenville*, 846 So.2d 1028, 1029 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2003) (citation omitted)). Accordingly, the immunity afforded by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act is a question of law properly addressed by summary judgment under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56. *Id*.

### C. Ministerial versus Discretionary Conduct

Whether the alleged conduct of the District was ministerial or discretionary is outcome determinative on the issue pending before the Court. While there is no flexible rule to distinguish whether an act is ministerial or discretionary, the most important criteria is that if the duty is one which has been positively imposed by law and in a manner or upon conditions which are specifically designated, the duty to perform under the conditions specified, not being dependent upon the officer's judgment or discretion, then the act or discharge thereof is ministerial. Mosby v. Moore, 716 So.2d 551, 557-58 (Miss. 1998) (quoting Barrett v. Miller, 599 So.2d 559, 567 (Miss. 1992) (quoting McFadden v. State, 542 So.2d 871, 877 (Miss. 1989)) (emphasis added).

In opposing the District's motion for summary judgment, Plaintiff contends that certain statutes and regulations enacted by the Mississippi High School Athletic Association ("MHSAA") prescribe the duties for the District insofar as its oversight of football practice at its member schools and thus, the

alleged acts or omissions by the District were ministerial in nature. Therefore, the exemption set forth in Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9(1)(b) applies and provides that:

- (1) A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim:
  - (b) Arising out of any act or omission of an employee of a governmental entity exercising ordinary care in reliance upon, or in the execution or performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform, a statute, ordinance, or regulation, whether or not the statute, ordinance, or regulation be valid . . . ;

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(b) (Rev. 2002 and Supp. 2008). (R. 47-52). Plaintiff contends that the issue of ordinary care is not proper for summary judgment and should be determined by the trier of fact. (R. 50-51).

On the other hand, a determination as to whether the governmental conduct is discretionary requires a two-prong analysis: "(1) whether the activity involved an element of choice or judgment; and if so, (2) whether the choice or judgment in supervision involves social, economic or political policy alternatives." Doe v. State ex rel. Mississippi Dept. of Corrections, 859 So.2d 350, 356 (Miss. 2003) (quoting Bridges v. Pearl River Valley Water Supply Dist., 793 So.2d 584, 588 (Miss. 2001) (citing Jones v. Miss. Dep't of Transp., 744 So.2d 256, 260 (Miss. 1999)). The focus is on the nature of the acts taken and their susceptibility to policy analysis; the court does not examine the actual subjective thought processes of the government decision-maker. Pritchard v. Houten, 960 So. 2d 568, 582 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Dotts v. Pat Harrison Waterway Dist., 933 So. 2d 322, 328 (Miss. 2006)).

As set forth herein, the alleged conduct of the District constitutes discretionary behavior thereby entitling the District to immunity pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d), which provides that:

(1) A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim:

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