IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-IA-01207-SCT ₺	
NIOOI DISTRICT	A T

COVINGTON COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

APPELLANT

V.

LUTRICIA MAGEE, INDIVIDUALLY, AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF LONNIE C. MAGEE, JR., DECEASED, AND ALL OTHERS WHO ARE ENTITLED TO RECOVER UNDER THE WRONGFUL DEATH STATUTE

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COVINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

GERALD P. COLLIER, I STAMPS & STAMPS ATTORNEYS AT LAW POST OFFICE BOX 2916 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39207-2916 269 EAST PEARL STREET JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201 TELEPHONE: (601) 354-4747

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Honorable Court must decide whether Covington County School District exercised ordinary care, in reliance upon, or in the execution or performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform its statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students. It is Plaintiff's contention that Defendant failed to perform its statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students when the school district decided to conduct football practice during extremely dangerous hot and humid temperature. Therefore, Covington County School District should not be granted immunity for its actions and/or omissions under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

Plaintiff argues that a school district's statutory duty to provide a safe environment "has been positively imposed by law;" therefore, it is a ministerial duty. The decision of whether to conduct football practice during a time when the heat index was at least 113° Fahrenheit should not be viewed any differently as: (1) the decision to close a school in instances were a tornado or hurricane is threatening the area where the school is located; (2) the decision to not allow buses to transport students to and from school when there is ice on the road because of safety issues; or (3) the decision to close a school when a bomb threat calls into question the safety of the school. It is true that school personnel must exercise some amount of discretion in making such decisions, but that still does not change the fact that decisions of this nature have a basis in the statutorily imposed obligation to provide a safe school environment for students, which is a ministerial dictate

In the case at bar, a statutory duty has been conclusively established. This Honorable Court has opined in *Pigford v. Jackson Public School District*, 910 So. 2d 575 (Miss. 2005) (citing *L.W.*, 754 So.2d 1136 (Miss. 1999)), that the administration of public schools constitutes the execution of a statutory duty. Furthermore, Defendant has readily admitted that it has a statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students via certain responses to Plaintiff's Requests for Admission.

This Honorable Court has concluded that public schools have the responsibility to use ordinary care and take reasonable steps to minimize risks to students thereby providing a safe school environment." *Pearl Public School District v. Groner*, 784 So. 2d 911, 915 (Miss. 2001) (citing *L.W. v. McComb Separate Municipal School District*, 754 So. 2d 1136, 1141) (Miss. 1999)). However, Defendant argues that it or any school district has a statutory duty to provide a safe environment to its students *only* in instances involving school discipline and/or disorderly conduct by students at school. Its argument, if accepted, virtually eliminates any duty of school district to provided a safe environment and minimize the risks to students in situations involving health (including spread of disease), severe weather conditions, structural (building) hazards, etc. Here, Defendant had a statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students and to minimize the risks to its students by not allowing football practice to be conducted during a time when the heat index was at least 113° Fahrenheit.

Plaintiff's allegations of negligence are different than those argued in *Prince v. Louisville Mun. School Dist.*, 741 So. 2d 207(Miss. 1999) and *Harris v. McCray*, 867 So. 2d 188, 192 (Miss. 2004). In *Prince* and *Harris* the focus was on whether the actions and/or inactions of the coaches in supervising their football practices are discretionary in nature and therefore afforded immunity under the Tort Claims Act without any focus on whether coaches failed to exercise ordinary care in the reliance upon, or in the execution or performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform, a statute, ordinance, or regulation. In the case *sub judice*, Plaintiff's focus is on the failure of the school district to exercise ordinary care in reliance upon, or in the execution or performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform, a statute, ordinance, or regulation. The crux of Plaintiff's claims against the Defendant lies in deciding the issue of whether the school district and its employees violated its statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students. Plaintiff is attacking the decision of the

school district to place students in an unsafe environment by electing to conduct football practice during a time when the heat index was at least 113° Fahrenheit.

Even if the acts and/or omissions of Covington County School District may have been discretionary, they still did not involve social, economic, or political policy. In *Stewart ex rel. Womack v. City of Jackson*, 804 So. 2d 1041, 1048 (Miss. 2002), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that it "must distinguish between real policy decisions implicating governmental functions and simple acts of negligence which injures innocent citizens." The decision to conduct football practice during a time when the heat index was at least 113° Fahrenheit does not involve real policy decisions. Therefore, the actions and/or omissions of Defendant should not be afforded immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

Accordingly, this Honorable Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and affirm the trial court's ruling/order denying, in part, Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"In reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the [Mississippi Supreme Court] conducts a de novo review and examines all the evidentiary matters before it, including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, and affidavits." *Presley v. City of Senatobia*, 997 So. 2d 235, 237 (¶4) (Miss. 2008) (citing *Green v. Allendale Planting Co.*, 954 So. 2d 1032, 1037 (¶8) (Miss. 2007)). The Supreme Court has stated that "[t]he evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made." *Id.* (citing *City of Jackson v. Sutton*, 797 So. 2d 977, 979 (¶7) (Miss. 2001)).

B. The Mississippi Tort Claims Act

Plaintiff agrees with Defendant's statement that Covington County School District is a "governmental entity" and a "political subdivision" of the state. However, Plaintiff disputes and does not agree with that statement that Covington County School District, in the case *sub judice*, is subject to the limitations of liability and exemptions from liability available under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, as set forth in *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-1*, *et seq.* Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-46-9(1)(b) provides that the school district and its employees are exempt from liability while performing or failing to perform such statutory duties so long as ordinary care is exercised. It specifically provides, in part, as follows:

A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim:

(b) Arising out of any act or omission of an employee of a governmental entity exercising ordinary care in reliance upon, or in the execution or performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform, a statute, ordinance, or regulation, whether or not the statute, ordinance or regulation be valid. . . .

See Miss. Code § 11-46-9(1)(b).

There is no question that the Covington County School District had a statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students and to minimize risks to its students. The fact is readily admitted by the Defendant, although the school district argues that the duty is discretionary. Having established a duty on part of the Defendant, the primary question is whether Covington County School District exercised ordinary care, in reliance upon, or in the execution or performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform its statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students and to minimize risks to its students by allowing football practice to be conducted in dangerously hot and humid temperatures. It is Plaintiff's contention, as set forth more fully herein, that ordinary care was not exercised in reliance upon, or in the execution or performance of, or in the failure to execute or perform, a statute, ordinance or regulation. Therefore, Covington County School District should not be granted immunity for its actions and/or omissions under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

C. <u>Ministerial Versus Discretionary Conduct</u>

Plaintiff agrees with Defendant's assessment that whether the conduct of Covington County School District was ministerial or discretionary is outcome determinative as to the issue presented to the Court for review. Counsel for Covington County School District would have this Court to believe that the actions of the school district in deciding to conduct football practices in extremely dangerous hot and humid temperatures were clearly discretionary and, therefore, the school district is afforded absolute immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. That simply is a fallacy. To illustrate Plaintiff's contention, it is necessary to first define a discretionary and ministerial duty. "A duty is discretionary if it requires the official to use her own judgment and discretion in the performance thereof." L.W. v. McComb Separate Municipal School District, 754 So. 2d 1136, 1141 (¶21) (Miss. 1999))(citations omitted). "In contrast, an act is ministerial if the duty is one which has been positively imposed by law and its performance required at a time and in a manner or upon

conditions which are specifically designated, the duty to perform under the conditions specified not being dependent upon the officer's judgment or discretion." *Id.* (quoting *Davis v. Little*, 362 So. 2d 642, 644 (Miss. 1978)).

Applying the definition of a ministerial duty to the facts of this case, a plausible argument could be made that the actions of Covington County School District were ministerial in nature. It is an uncontroverted fact that from statutory law our Supreme Court has fashioned a statutory duty for public schools to provide a safe environment for students by utilizing ordinary care and taking reasonable steps to minimize risks to students. That duty is one which has been positively imposed by law. The decision of whether to conduct football practice during a time when the heat index was at least 113° Fahrenheit should not be viewed any differently as: the decision to close a school in instances were a tornado or hurricane is threatening the area where the school is located; the decision to not allow buses to transport students to and from school when there is ice on the road because of safety issues; or the decision to close a school when a bomb threat calls into question the safety of the school. It is true that school personnel must exercise some amount of discretion in making such decisions, but that still does not change the fact that decisions of this nature have a basis in the statutorily imposed obligation to provide a safe school environment for students, which is a ministerial dictate. Obviously, the superintendent of Covington County School District could have and should have utilized ordinary care and taken reasonable steps to provide a safe school environment for his students and minimize foreseeable risks of harm to them before the death of Lonnie C. Magee, Jr. This fact is evident by the memo wherein the superintendent mandated that there be no outside activity (practice or games) between the hours of 3:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. for football due to the heat. (R. 115).

In reference to discretionary, there has been some confusion as to what type of governmental conduct should be afforded immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. "In discerning whether a function is afforded immunity under the discretionary exception, it must first be determined whether the activity involved an element of choice or judgment." *Jones v. Miss. Dept. of Transp.*, 744 So. 2d 256, 260 (¶ 10) (Miss. 1999) (citation omitted). "If so, it must then be determined whether the choice involved social, economic or political policy." *Id.* Not all acts are protected under the exception, even though they involve the exercise of some form of discretion. The United States Supreme Court has held that "only those functions which by nature are policy decisions, whether made at the operational or planning level, are protected. *Id.* (citing *U.S. v. Gaubert*, 499 U.S. 315, 322 (1991)).

D. <u>A STATUTORY DUTY HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED</u>

This Honorable Court has opined in *Pigford v. Jackson Public School District*, 910 So. 2d 575 (Miss. 2005) (citing *L.W.*, 754 So.2d 1136 (Miss. 1999)), that the administration of public schools constitutes the execution of a statutory duty. *Id.* It must be noted that for compulsory school age children in Mississippi, enrollment and attendance in school is mandated by statute. Given these mandates, our Supreme Court has stated that "[s]ince the state requires all children to be enrolled in school, it only seems logical that the state should then require school personnel to use ordinary care in administering our public schools." *L.W.*, 754 So. 2d at 1142. Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-14, provides, in part, as follows:

- (1) It shall be the duty of the superintendent of schools to administer the schools within his district and to implement the decisions of the school board.
- Id. Plaintiff has alleged, in her First Amended Complaint, that Defendant has violated its duty imposed pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 37-9-14, by failing to provide a safe school

environment and failing to minimize risks to its students. (R. 8). In *Pigford*, the Supreme Court opined that the administration of public schools constitutes the execution of a statutory duty and school personnel are required to use ordinary care in administering public schools and ordinary and reasonable steps must be taken to minimize risks to students. *Pigford*, 910 So. 2d. at 575, 578, 580 (Miss. 2005).

Furthermore, Defendant has readily admitted that it has a statutory duty, as evidenced by the following Request for Admission:

REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 12: Admit that defendant, Covington County School District, has a statutory duty to provide a safe environment for its students.

RESPONSE: Admitted.

(R. 48). Defendant attempts to clarify the above stated admission by bringing the Court's attention to a response given to an admission in Plaintiff's Second Set of Request for Admissions. (R. 144-146). More specifically, Request for Admission No. 17 states as follows:

REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 17: Please admit that the Covington County School District has a statutory duty to use ordinary care in administering public schools and to take ordinary and reasonable steps to minimize risks for its students.

RESPONSE: Responding to Request No. 17, *Defendant admits* only that from Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-69, the Courts of this state have fashioned a *ministerial duty to maintain a safe environment for the students* that has been applied by the Courts in a limited context....

(R. 145-146) (emphasis added). Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 36 is meant to provide, and should provide, an authoritative manner of procedure, and it is to be enforced even if harsh consequences may result. *DeBlanc v. Stancil*, 814 So. 2d 769, 801 (Miss. 2002). Even though the Court enjoys discretion in pretrial matters, a decision to permit a party to withdraw and amend admissions should only be rendered in *extraordinary circumstances*. *Educational Placement Serv*.

v. Wilson, 487 So. 2d 1316, 1318 (Miss. 1986) (emphasis added). Courts may not give or withhold at pleasure, and Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 36 should be enforced according to its terms without gratuity. Id. Matters are deemed admitted even if the facts are outcome determinative. Towner v. Moore, 604 So. 2d 1093, 1099 (Miss. 1992). The statutory duty of the Covington County School District to provide a safe environment for its students has been established in this case via the subject request for admission. Moreover, not only did the Defendant admit that it had a statutory duty, but it also admitted that the duty to provide a safe environment for students is ministerial in nature.

E. There is a Statutory Duty that Applies to the Facts of this Case

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